CASE NO: 2022-CP-10-05123  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000256

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

---

MARK CALHOUN,  
Appellant,

v.

MEMBERS OF CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON, SOUTH CAROLINA,  
CAROLINE PARKER, KEVIN SHEALY, JASON SAKRAN, ROBERT M. MITCHELL,  
KARL L. BRADY, JR., STEPHEN BOWDEN, PETER SHAHID, JR., MICHAEL S.  
SEEKINGS, PERRY K. WARING, WILLIAM DUDLEY GREGORIE, and ROSS A. APPEL  
AND THE CITY OF CHARLESTON, SOUTH CAROLINA, THE HONORABLE ALAN  
WILSON, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, AND THE  
HONORABLE JOHN TECKLENBURG, MAYOR OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON,  
SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondents.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court commit an error of law by holding that the Petitioners lacked standing to enforce the Heritage Act?
2. Did the Circuit Court commit an error of law by holding that only the South Carolina Attorney General, settlor, or trustee, and not the Petitioners, can enforce the alleged Charitable Trust of the Calhoun Monument and therefore Petitioners lacked standing to bring the Charitable Trust Act claim?
3. Did the Circuit Court commit an error of law and fact in holding that the South Carolina Attorney General had previously issued an opinion that the removal of the Calhoun Monument from Marion Square was not in violation of the Heritage Act, when the Attorney General had previously asserted in a filed answer that a court could determine a violation by the said removal under the rededication provision of the Heritage Act?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### FACTS

The historic facts about the John C. Calhoun monument and the parties' involvement and/or connection to the monument establishment and Charitable Trust are outlined in the Petition. Respondents' memorandum repeated the substantive historic allegations from Petitioners' Complaint. What bears repeating for the sake of this motion is that the City accepted the Calhoun Monument by way of unanimous resolution of City Council on 18 July, 1898 as follows:

“Whereas, the Ladies Calhoun Monument Association, ‘after vicissitudes and efforts extending over many years, has at length accomplished the sacred object of its existence,’ by the erection in Marion Square of the magnificent monument to South Carolina’s greatest son, John Caldwell Calhoun; and whereas, the Association is now about to dissolve and disband, and desires to place the monument under the control and care of the City of Charleston for all time, and has placed in the hands of the Mayor and the city the key to the enclosure, ‘as symbolizing its possession and custody’; Resolved, That the City Council

gratefully accepts the high honor and the responsibilities which it involves, and pledges the faith of the city to watch over and keep it as a priceless treasure and sacred trust. Resolved, that his Honor the Mayor by (*sic*) requested to express to the ladies of this Association the thanks of the City and the entire State for their untiring labors and heroic endurance in the face of many obstacles and difficulties in the completion of such a handsome and imposing monument to the great statesman. Resolved, that this action of the City Council be suitably engrossed and sent to the Ladies Calhoun Monument Association.”

Relevant to the issue of Petitioners’ standing under the Public Importance exception (further explained below) are the events and decisions surrounding the destruction of the monument and removal of the lifelike statue of John C. Calhoun on June 24, 2020, and then later plans to transfer the statue of Calhoun to Los Angeles for display in an exhibit subjecting the Calhoun statue and name to “ridicule”. This background provides an example that connects the purpose of both the Heritage Act and South Carolina Trust Code of protection of such historic artifacts as the Calhoun Monument and Statue. It is also relevant to the issue of the particular harm to the Petitioners and the relation of that harm to the issue of standing.

Shortly after the death of George Floyd in the summer of 2020, nationwide civil unrest came to Charleston, South Carolina. As described in the Charleston City Paper (July 8, 2021, edition):

“The night of May 30, 2020, a group of people took to upper King Street downtown, breaking windows and setting fires following a day of protest marches throughout downtown in which hundreds of people demonstrated against the police killing of George Floyd in Minneapolis a few days earlier.”

In the weeks following, civil unrest also moved to the John C. Calhoun monument with vandalism against the statue and ensuing protests and demands it come down. This was during the time of heated unrest which included ubiquitous threats of “no justice, no peace” against decision-makers for not following the directives of those protesting against particularly historic monuments.

A Charleston City Council vote was taken on June 23 to remove the statue, and the actual removal took place within hours of the successful vote to the cheers of the crowds. While the base of the structure was destroyed by the City, the statue of Calhoun was transferred from Marion Square and stored outside of public view in an undisclosed location alleged by the City. Petitioners understand from the City it is located in a warehouse on the peninsula, where it has remained since being removed (note: to this point, neither the Petitioners nor their counsel have been given permission to assess the condition of the statue).

While the statue languished out of site, in 2021, the city began coordination with Hamza Walker, Director of “LAXART” (further described hereafter), to send the John C. Calhoun statue to the Los Angeles, California “LAXART Monument” exhibit. When the City of Charleston’s Commission on History, whose members were approved by City Council, voted on December 15, 2021 to send the statue to LAXART, a dissenting commission member said the following about the decision:

“The remaining light and honor of respect cannot be extinguished by subjecting Calhoun to further ridicule in the form of a distant or traveling show.”

The impending transfer of the Calhoun Statue to LAXART for “ridicule” was the catalyst for a lawsuit brought by descendants of the Calhoun family and of the Ladies Calhoun Monument Association who created the statue and transferred it to the City of Charleston in trust. This group had previously waited to see what the City had planned for the statue and did not have plans to sue until the said LAXART plan.

After the said destruction of the Monument and warehousing of the Calhoun statue, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued its opinion upholding the Constitutionality of the “**Heritage Act**” (though with a majority vote of the legislature to act versus the original super majority). The South Carolina Supreme Court Declaratory Judgment Opinion 28062 (2021) upholding the

Constitutionality of SC Code subsection 10-1-165(A) “**Heritage Act**” provided the following passage relevant to the powers of state versus local government with regard to historic memorials we argue include the Calhoun Monument and the rededication of Marion Square (further explained below):

“The Petitioners argue subsection 10-1-165(A) conflicts with Home Rule because it prevents local governments from acting on requests of the public for the change, removal, or relocation of controversial historic monuments or memorials.” They contend local governments are in a better position to act with regard to this subject because “they can be more responsive” to the thoughts of the community. This may be true, but Home Rule is not about who holds the better wisdom. Home Rule does not allow local governments to ignore legislatively enacted state law because they are in a more suitable position to address an issue. Subsection 10-1-165(A) does not apply to a specific county or geographic area and, thus, it is a general law with respect to territorial classifications. Further, as we analyzed above, the statute is not an unconstitutional special law in any other respect. Importantly, “the subject matter of the legislation is not peculiar to [any] political subdivision.” *Kleckley v. Pulliam*, 265 S.C. 177, 187, 217 S.E.2d 217, 222 (1975). Therefore, we hold subsection 10-1-165(A) does not violate Home Rule and all counties must comply with it because “no county shall be exempted from the general laws.” S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 7.”

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure do not have identical standards of review. In particular, the rules differ as to whether this Court needs to accept the well-pleaded allegations of the complaint as true. Under Rule 12(b)(1), this Court “examines whether the complaint fails to state facts upon which jurisdiction can be founded.” *Rega v. Rega*, No. 19-259, 2019 WL 4466977, at \*3 (D.S.C. Sept. 17, 2019) (interpreting Federal Rule 12(b)(1)).

When resolving a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, the Court “may consider undisputed facts and any jurisdictional facts that it determines.” *Id.* (same). As a result, the Court may review “affidavits and other evidence outside the pleadings . . . in support of a motion to dismiss based on lack of jurisdiction.” *Baird v. Charleston Cty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 529, 511 S.E.2d 69, 74 (1999).

Under Rule 12(b)(6), by contrast, the complaint should be “construed liberally and the Court must presume all well plead facts to be true.” *Charleston Cty. School Dist. v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011). So a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is improper “[i]f the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deductible from the allegations set forth in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff on any theory.” *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 497 (2014). “The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.” *Id.*

This motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), by the arguments as set forth below, should fail under the above standard.

### ARGUMENTS

1. The Circuit Court’s denial of standing to Petitioners to bring the Heritage Act claim was justified by the assertion that only the South Carolina Attorney General has standing under the Heritage Act to bring a claim. This holding does not allow for any of the doctrines which allow for standing, like public importance, nor does it recognize that the Heritage Act categorizes groups of South Carolina citizens, for example minority citizens, with unique interest from the general public. This was in error and should be reversed.

As stated in *Sloan v. School Dist. Of Greenville County*, even a taxpayer has standing to challenge unauthorized or illegal governmental acts under this exception. 342 S.C. 515, 520, 537 S.E.2d 299, 301 (Ct.App.2000). This case is of such importance that if the Petitioners are not found

to fall under the “among others” for standing to enforce the Charitable Trust, the Court should confer standing so it may provide for future guidance. See *Sloan v. Wilkins*, 362 S.C. at 436-37, 608 S.E.2d at 583, abrogated on other grounds, *Am. Petroleum Inst. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 572, 677 S.E.2d 16 (2009). Petitioners have personal standing due to the harm experienced and described above, and furthermore, the issues in question are of such public importance, that the Court should grant standing by recognizing the Respondents’ interpretation of Section 62-7-405(c) is extreme and this matter requires the kind of guidance intended with the Public Importance exception.

Beyond principles of constitutional construction or the public importance exception, according to the Court in *Denton*, a statute can imply a private cause of action by a two-party test: 1. The essential purpose of the statute is to protect from the kind of harm the petitioners have suffered. 2. That he is a member of the class the statute is intended to protect. It’s important to note that the Court also opined that “Legislation in derogation of common law must be strictly construed.” Conversely, legislation not in derogation of common law need not be strictly construed. Neither the Heritage Act nor the Charitable Trust Act are in derogation of common law. Petitioners meet the said two-part test for standing under the *Denton* analysis. Critical to the two-part test to the *Calhoun* case is the *Pinckney* opinion of the Supreme Court upholding the constitutionality of the heritage act. The *Pinckney* opinion described in detail the quid pro quos for both sides of the Confederate Battle Flag within the Legislature. The Court asserts the Heritage Act was formed and passed due to compromises from both sides for protection of competing groups or classes of people. Of note, A Civil Rights memorial was to be created on state grounds in exchange for the moving of the Confederate battle flag on State House grounds. The Court noted that the Heritage Act provided for special protection of African American and Native American

Monuments/Memorials. The Supreme Court specifically recognized these two groups, did not include other groups (in apparent violation of equal protection), and yet recognized the uniqueness of those groups in the context of this debate. This was another quid pro quo for the group protected by the Heritage Act which includes Petitioners. By Legislative intention, the Heritage Act was to protect the class of people who appreciate and value South Carolina history, including history connected to memorials associated with the Civil War, other wars, or South Carolina historic figures like John C. Calhoun. The Petitioners are part of a class harmed in the way the legislature sought to protect under the Heritage Act. Specifically, Petitioner descendants were harmed by the reputational damage to their family name/reputation when the monument was destroyed and the statue warehoused. A year and a half later, they were further harmed with the publicized plans to send the statue to LAXART in California for ridicule, which generated the lawsuit.

John C. Calhoun was arguably South Carolina's most important and accomplished son, and this case allows for critical future guidance for the Heritage Act and Charitable Trust provisions. Allowing standing in this unique case with these unique Petitioners does not stand to create a deluge of lawsuits and harm judicial economy. The guidance flowing from this case will likely help with judicial economy for the reasons presented. Petitioners met the standard to defeat the Respondents' motion to dismiss and allow for the courts to more fully hear the arguments of parties and make determinations affecting future generations of South Carolinians.

2. The Circuit Court's incorrect statement of fact that the South Carolina Attorney General's alleged position with regards to the potential Heritage Act violation (with the removal of the Calhoun Monument) does not comport with the Attorney General's answer to lawsuit. The Attorney General's position is that under the "rededication" provision of the Heritage Act a court could find a violation of the Heritage Act in the removal of the monument. The Court's error of

fact becomes an error of law by holding that the claim should be dismissed because a court could not find a Heritage Act violation occurred.

In dismissing the Heritage Act claim, the Court permitted the Respondent's erroneous assertion, "The Court also notes that when the statue was removed in 2020, the Attorney General issued an opinion that the City's action did not violate the Act." The Attorney General did not issue an opinion the City did not violate the Act. The Attorney General made a personal video statement (also transcribed in the Post and Courier in an article about the Statue). On July 25, 2020, the Attorney General issued an opinion about the Constitutionality of the Heritage Act, but not about the Calhoun Monument removal. Please note below that the Attorney General stated he would focus on the Constitutionality of the Heritage Act. The following was the conclusion of the Attorney General's statement to the media in Charleston: "Our Legal Analysis of the law's ambiguity, coupled with the organization's understanding from the City of Charleston that it would protect and care for the statue until a suitable place was found for it led us to the decision not to file a legal challenge at this time but instead to focus on the overall legal defense of the Heritage Act". In Paragraph 28 of the Attorney General's answer to the first lawsuit brought against Respondents over the removal of the Calhoun Statue, the Attorney General asserted that a court could find that the removal of the Calhoun Monument violated the "rededication" provision of the Heritage Act.

**CONCLUSION**

**FOR THE FOREGOING REASONS**, Appellant asks that this Court to reverse and remand for further proceedings.