RECEIVED

Jun 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
2022-CP-10-05123

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000256

Board of Field Officers of the Fourth Brigade, Mark Calhoun, F. Preston Wilson, and Andrew Pickens Calhoun,

of which Board of Field Officers of the Fourth Brigade, Mark Calhoun, and F. Preston Wilson are Appellants,

Appellants,

v.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On appeal, Appellants argue that they are entitled to sue under the Heritage Act and the Trust Code to restore the Calhoun statue on Marion Square.

As to the Heritage Act, the circuit court held correctly that Appellants could not sue because the Act contains no private cause of action. Appellants also argue that they are entitled to “public importance standing,” but that is simply an argument that a court should create a private cause of action for a statute in which the General Assembly has chosen not to do so. Appellants Wilson/Board (but not Appellant Calhoun) also argue that, even without a private cause of action, they are still entitled to a writ of mandamus against the City barring its supposed violation of the Heritage Act. This argument is without merit because mandamus is simply a form of relief which could be available only if Appellants had a private cause of action under the Heritage Act.

As to the Trust Code, Appellants no longer argue that they can sue as “among others,” a reading of the Trust Code that the circuit court correctly rejected as completely without merit. Instead, Appellants Wilson/Board (but not Appellant Calhoun) now present a completely new argument under the Trust Code. They now argue that they are “settlers” of the Trust and entitled to sue as such to enforce the Trust Code. This argument fails because (a) they never argued this below (so it is not preserved for appeal), and (b) they do not qualify as “settlers” by any stretch of the imagination or legal doctrine.

ARGUMENT

1. APPELLANTS CANNOT SUE TO ENFORCE THE HERITAGE ACT BECAUSE THEY ARE PRIVATE PARTIES.

The Court should affirm the circuit court for correctly dismissing the Appellants' claims brought pursuant to the Heritage Act.

A. THE HERITAGE ACT CONTAINS NO PROVISION FOR A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION.

The circuit court held correctly that the Heritage Act does not create a private right of action that would allow Appellants to sue to enforce it.

The Heritage Act provides:

“No Revolutionary War, War of 1812, Mexican War, War Between the State, Spanish-American War, World War I, World War II, Korean War, Vietnam War, Persian Gulf War, Native American, or African-American History monuments or memorials erected on public property of the State or any of its political subdivisions may be relocated, removed, disturbed, or altered. No street, bridge, structure, park, preserve, reserve, or other public area of the State or any of its political subdivisions dedicated in memory of or named for any historic figure or historic event may be renamed or rededicated. No person may prevent the public body responsible for the monument or memorial from taking proper measures and exercising proper means for the protection, preservation, and care of these monuments, memorials, or nameplates.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 10-1-165(A). The Act contains no “private right of action,” *i.e.*, no language authorizing a private citizen to bring an enforcement lawsuit.

When the General Assembly enacts a statute, especially one governing the conduct of government, private citizens are not authorized to sue to enforce it unless the statute expressly allows private lawsuits or if the legislation was enacted for the special benefit of a private party. *Denson v. National Cas. Co.*, 439 S.C. 142, 152-54, 886 S.E.2d 228, 233-34 (2023); *Kubic v. MERSCORP Holdings, Inc.*, 416 S.C. 161, 168, 785 S.E.2d 595, 599 (2016); *Ballard v. Newberry Cty.*, 432 S.C. 526, 531, 854 S.E.2d 848, 850-51 (Ct. App. 2021).

The circuit court quoted from these cases and cited nine more appellate cases. Appellants do not address any of these South Carolina cases.

In this Court, none of the Appellants claim that the Act creates a private right of action. Instead, they make two other arguments that would do no more than effectively allow a private right of action – first, that, even without a private right of action, they are entitled to a writ of mandamus, and second, that they are entitled to “public importance” standing. Both arguments are wrong.³

B. WHEN THERE IS NO RIGHT OF ACTION, THERE CAN BE NO WRIT OF MANDAMUS.

Appellants Wilson/Board misunderstand the nature of mandamus when they argue that it somehow creates a private right of action that does not otherwise exist. They say, “Respondents assert that only the government can hold the government accountable!” App. Wilson/Board Br. at 22. They go on:

“That is not accurate. There is a means for citizens to force a government to perform its duty. Where an inferior government office refuses to do its job, citizens may seek a court order in the form of a writ of mandamus to compel the government office to do its job.”

Id. at 23.

This is a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of mandamus. A writ of mandamus is not a freestanding magic wand; it is a *remedy* in a lawsuit, like other remedies, available if preconditions are met. If one person has a right to sue another, and establishes the liability of the person sued, the person bringing the suit is ordinarily entitled to relief, which may include among

³ The Wilson/Board Appellants also say they can sue even without a private cause of action because they are seeking only mandamus, not damages, and/but offer no support for that argument, which has no basis anywhere in the law. In addition, Respondents note that Appellant Calhoun lists a circuit court reference to the Attorney General as an Issue Presented relating to the Heritage Act, but that reference was a mere observation that played no part in the circuit court’s decision.

other remedies an injunction, and, in extreme cases, a writ of mandamus. But mandamus does not come without a right to sue.

Our courts have made this point many times:

“[I]t is not the purpose of the writ to establish a legal right, but to enforce one which has already been established.’

...

“To obtain a writ of mandamus requiring the performance of an act, the petitioner must show: (1) a duty to perform the act; (2) the ministerial nature of the act; (3) the petitioner’s specific legal right for which discharge of the duty is necessary; and (4) a lack of any other legal remedy.”

Sanford v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n, 385 S.C. 483, 493-494, 685 S.E.2d 600, 605-606 (2009)

(internal citations omitted). The point has never been in doubt:

“The writ of mandamus is employed to compel the performance, when refused, of a ministerial duty. To warrant its issuance, not only should there be a legal right in the petitioner, but it is also important that the asserted right is clear and certain. There must also be shown a legal and ministerial duty of performance resting upon the respondent, and the absence of any other specific remedy to enforce that which is sought. The requisite elements of the remedy of mandamus are so well established that it is not necessary to cite authorities or cases in support thereof.”

Godwin v. Carrigan, 227 S.C. 216, 222, 87 S.E.2d 471 (1955).

The cases cited at pages 22-24 of the Wilson/Board Brief are not to the contrary. A prime example is *Willimon v. City of Greenville*, *supra*, cited by Appellants on page 23. It is correct, as described, that the court in *Willimon* issued a writ of mandamus, but that was pursuant to a specific statute that gave the plaintiff a specific right to sue: Section 47-1327 of the S.C. Code of 1962:

“The city council of any city containing more than five thousand inhabitants may lay out and open new streets in the city and close up, **widen** or otherwise alter streets in such city whenever, in its judgment, it may be necessary for the improvement or convenience of the city. But it shall first pay damages, should any be claimed, to any landowner through whose premises such streets may run, such damages to be fixed and determined as provided in §§ 25-161 to 25-170 of the Code.”

To the same effect is *Green v. West*, 161 S.C. 161, 159 S.E. 23 (1931), also cited by Appellants. This case, too, began with a statutory cause of action – Section 5601 of the Code of 1932 (authorizing a suit by the heirs of a lynching victim against the culpable county). Another case, *City of Rock Hill v. Thompson*, 349 S.C. 197, 563 S.E.2d 101 (2001), also cited by Appellants, makes the same point: a writ of mandamus “is issued only when there is a specific right to be enforced, a positive duty to be performed, and no other specific remedy.” *City of Rock Hill*, 349 S.C. at 199, 563 S.E.2d at 102.

The bottom line is clear: no cause of action means no writ of mandamus.

C. “PUBLIC IMPORTANCE STANDING” IS UNAVAILABLE FOR THE HERITAGE ACT.

The second main argument made by Appellants Wilson/Board is that the Court should create “public importance” standing here to allow private suits under the Heritage Act. The first answer to that suggestion lies in the very nature of the difference between “standing” and “private cause of action.” In “standing” cases, the Court is guided by its interpretation of general principles of jurisprudence, but in “private cause of action” cases, a court’s task is to carry out the General Assembly’s statute, which leaves little or no leeway for a court’s independent judgment.

Respondents are not aware of a case in which our appellate courts have used public importance standing explicitly to create a cause of action to enforce a statute, but even if Appellants were to find such a case, it is still undeniable that public importance standing, as a common law doctrine, is by its nature at odds with the General Assembly’s role of deciding how to write its statutes.

Another feature of “public importance” standing makes it incompatible with the Heritage Act. The Supreme Court has invoked public importance standing only where “an issue is of such

public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.” *Sloan v. Sanford*, 337 S.S. 431, 434, 593 S.E.2d 470, 472 (2004).

The key terms there are “an issue” and “resolution.” The cases cited in the long quote in Appellant’s’ Brief meet those two tests: they address “an issue” – meaning one issue – and they bring “resolution” – meaning that no or few questions are left.

A look at the cases in which public importance standing has been granted confirms its valuable function as well as the limitations of public importance standing. The cases involve such issues as the Governor’s eligibility to serve in the military reserves (*Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 593 S.E.2d 470 (2004)); DOT’s use of public funds for private projects (*S.C. Pub. Int. Fdn v. SCDOT*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017)); and the use of public medical funds by a private agency (*Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999)). Added to this list could be the recent case involving public funds for private or religious school tuition. *Eidson v. SCDOE*, 444 S.C. 166, 906 S.E.2d 345 (2024).

By contrast, if this Court recognized a private cause of action under the Heritage Act, that would open the gates of possibly endless litigation from every corner of the state, meritorious or not. There are thousands of monuments, named streets and parks, and even named rooms in public buildings – any of which could become targets of litigation.

This case illustrates the problem. The City of Charleston took down a statue which the Attorney General chose not to challenge and which the circuit court said in dictum did not appear to violate the Act. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. p. 6). Yet Appellants have now kept the City mired in expensive litigation for more than three years on the bizarre theory that a statue of John C. Calhoun is a memorial of the War of 1812!⁴

⁴ See App. Wilson/Board Br. at 25 n.2.

The circuit court observed that the Attorney General has full authority to block violations of the Act. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. p. 5). The Attorney General has also provided useful guidance in Opinion letters. If public importance standing is supposed to “resolve” “an issue,” extending it to the Heritage Act would guarantee the opposite—that countless issues involving the Heritage Act would be created, not resolved. This is especially so because the “issue” whose “resolution” is sought in this case is not only whether the Calhoun statue’s removal violated the Act, but whether any person who believes any public agency has violated the Heritage Act in any way is free to bring a lawsuit at his or her volition.

That type of question was before this Court recently in *Ballard v. Newberry County*, a decision relied on by the circuit court in this case. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. p. 4). In *Ballard*, when a similar request was made to recognize a private cause of action under the Public Records Act, this Court applied the correct principles:

“Finding standing here could well invite countless copycat suits filed against public bodies both large and small. That many of these suits might be well-intentioned is beside the point. The Public Records Act delineates specific means of enforcement. We believe it is best to exercise restraint and refuse to do indirectly what the General Assembly could have done directly. We will not recognize a civil right to enforce the act when the General Assembly did not include such a right in the Code.”

Ballard, 432 S.C. 526, 535, 854 S.WE.2d 848, 852 (2021). This analysis applies here, as well.

D. THIS CASE SHOWS HOW A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION CAN BE ABUSED.

This is not the only case these Appellants have filed against the Mayor and City Council members of Charleston.⁵ Nor is the Calhoun statute the only monument these Appellants have

⁵ A similar lawsuit by Petitioners Mark Calhoun, F. Preston Wilson, and Andrew Pickens Calhoun against these same Defendants was filed January 4, 2022, with amendments filed the same day, and on January 10, 2022, and on January 19, 2022, and on January 28, 2022. Case No. 2022-CP-10-01729. The City filed its Motion to Dismiss that case on March 1, 2022. A hearing was set before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy for September 19, 2022. Prior to that hearing, on September 2, 2022, the Petitioners filed a Stipulation of Dismissal Without Prejudice pursuant to Rule

targeted. Nor are the Mayor and City Council members the only public servants to be targeted by these Appellants. Other targets have included the Charleston County School District and even an individual school – the Math and Science Charter School of Charleston.⁶

One or another of these cases has been going on for more than three years. The net effect is to keep the City of Charleston on a yo-yo string, expending time, attention, and money at the instance of those who, even if well-intentioned, may be pursuing only their own ends – at the public’s expense.⁷

2. APPELLANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO SUE UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA TRUST CODE BECAUSE THEY ARE NOT WITHIN THE LISTED CATEGORIES.

A. APPELLANTS CANNOT SUE AS “AMONG OTHERS” UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA TRUST CODE.

In the circuit court, Appellants argued that they were “among others” and thus entitled to sue in that capacity under the Trust Code. The circuit court analyzed the background and history of trust litigation in general and the South Carolina Trust Code in particular. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. pp. 6-10). The circuit court ruled correctly that “among others” in the Trust Code does not

41(a)(1)(A), S.C. R. Civ. P. On November 4, 2022, the same three individual Petitioners, along with Board of Field Officers of the Fourth Brigade, filed this lawsuit.

⁶ In the first case described in the previous footnote, the 4th Amended Petition added as Respondents the Charleston County School District and the Charleston County Charter School for Math and Science. Added target monuments were a former Robert E. Lee marker for a never-built highway and a building which in a former existence had borne the name of Confederate Treasury Secretary Christopher Memminger.

⁷ The Attorney General of South Carolina has recently filed an amicus brief, in a separate private citizen lawsuit involving the Robert E. Lee marker mentioned in the previous footnote. There, the Attorney General argues—contrary to the circuit court in this case and unpersuasively—that there is or should be a private right of action to enforce the Heritage Act. His main arguments are similar to those made by Appellants here (mandamus and public importance standing) and are meritless for the same reasons discussed above. He also says that the Heritage Act does have a private right of action or should be so interpreted—points that no one else has ever seriously advanced. The case is *Charleston Chapter UDC v. Charleston County Sch. Dist.*, No. 2024-CP-10-03667 (Amicus Brief filed Jan. 28, 2025, at 8-9.) One must wonder: If the Attorney General believes that moving the Lee marker violated the Heritage Act, why doesn’t he bring his own lawsuit, as he is obviously authorized to do, instead of trying to revolutionize this State’s “right to sue” doctrines?

open the door to broad new categories of people with standing. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. pp. 7-8). Appellants do not seriously challenge this holding⁸ and this Court should affirm it.

B. APPELLANTS CANNOT SUE AS “SETTLORS” UNDER THE TRUST CODE.

Instead of renewing their “among others” position, Appellants Wilson/Board (but not Appellant Calhoun) now seek to reverse the circuit court’s decision based on a new argument that they are somehow “settlers” under the Trust Code, despite having not raised this issue to the circuit court and despite their not being the settlor in any event.

i. THIS ARGUMENT WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Two Appellants, Wilson and the Board of Field Officers, for the first time now on appeal, claim to be “settlers” entitled to sue as such under the Trust Code. This new-found position is inconsistent with (1) their pleadings, which made no such allegation, and (2) their previous position at oral argument that the Ladies’ Calhoun Monument Association was the settlor.

As to the pleadings, the Petition itself claimed only “among others,” status for themselves and specifically identified the Ladies’ Calhoun Monument Association as the settlor. This was in the caption for the Third Cause of Action:

“Declaratory Judgment That Petitioners [naming them] Are Persons “Among Others” Identified In [the Trust Code] That May Enforce The Terms Of The Charitable Trust Created By The Ladies’ Calhoun Monument Association.”⁹

At oral arguments on the City’s Motion to Dismiss, the Appellants reaffirmed that the Ladies’ Calhoun Monument Association was the settlor,¹⁰ and argued that they (Appellants) were

⁸ Appellant Calhoun refers to this in his second “Issue Presented,” but makes no further reference to it. Appellants Wilson/Board have one sentence on page 22, saying they should have standing, because of “special interest” even if not found to be settlers, but there is no argument supporting this statement.

⁹ Pet. at 19 (R. p. 35). Paragraph 77 of the Petition added the Board of Field Officers to this Cause of Action. (R. p. 36).

¹⁰ “The Charitable Trust Act provisions allow for not **just the settlor, which, in this case, would have been the Ladies’ Calhoun Society** that dissolved when they gained [gave?] things in trust, but also the trustee. The trustee is the City who destroyed the monument and warehoused the statue somewhere and it’s never—and tried to (indiscernible). So those two parties, it does leave “among others,” not just the attorney general. And I can’t think of

qualified to enforce the Trust Code under the “among others” provision of the Trust Code.

Appellants did not argue that they qualified as settlors.¹¹

South Carolina’s Issue Preservation rules are strict:

“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.”

S.C. DOT v. First Carolina Corp., 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 906-07 (2007) (quoting JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2d ed. 2002)).

The circuit court never ruled on the “Settlor” question because it was not asked to do so. Order of Jan. 4, 2024 (R. pp. 1-13). Therefore, the Appellants have not preserved this issue for appellate review. *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994); *Doe v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 206, 212, 634 S.E.2d 51, 54-55 (Ct. App. 2006).

Furthermore, the Appellants cannot claim their new “Settlor” argument was preserved for appeal merely because it falls under the same statute (Trust Code) as their former argument. That is insufficient because the two are completely different arguments. Raising one issue in the lower court (“among others”) does not preserve a different issue for appeal (“Settlor”). *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 133-34, S.E.2d 202, 205 (2001) (“A party cannot argue one ground for an objection at trial and an alternative ground on appeal.”); *S.C. DOT v. First Carolina Corp.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (issue must have been “raised to the trial court with

another party but the Board Of Field Officers who is more intricately involved and would have been intended to help those charitable trusts.” Tr. 30:7-18 (R. p. 113, ll. 7-18) (emphasis added).

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